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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

SUMMARY OF PRESENT AND ORIGINAL PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The "U"-shaped structure located at 101 North Tamiami Trail was designed in the
Mediterranean Revival Style (with Spanish Renaissance overtones) by the nationally
recognized architect Dwight James Baum as an office for Mr. Owen Burns.~ The building
plan centers around a courtyard which is flanked by a pair of one-story, gable-roofed
wings which intersect a connecting two-story pavilion. The courtyard is further
protected by a masonry walled enclosure with access provided through an ornamental
wrought iron gate. Interior access is provided by three doors located on axis and
cross—-axis at the west, north and south facades of the central courtyard. Number 101
North Tamiami Trail was originally designed as an office. A series of photographs of
the Burns Realty Company office documents the early appearance of the office, set on
an iscdlated grassy perm.? Discussion of the property will include the ‘exterior
appearance of the Burns Realty Company, c. 1925 (based on photographic evidence),3
and c¢. 1935 appearance with photographic* evidence supplied by the "Karl Bickel Scrap-
book," located at the Sarasota County Historical Archives, Sarasota.4 Both periods,
including the Burns Realty Company occupancy of 1925-1929 as well as the period
associated with the Karl Bickel family who purchased the property in 1933° and
occupied the property after extensive remodeling on January 1, 1935,6 are significant.
Of particular note is the library wing which was added by Mr. Bickel circa 1935. The
wing is an example .of a consciously compatible new design which respected the earliex
1920's structure in massing, materials, scale and texture. In addition to the execu-
tion of extensive interior alterations, walled gardens were added to the grounds
located at the western property site by Mr. & Mrs. Karl Bickel.

i

TEXT SUPPORTING SUMMARY OF PRESENT AND ORIGINAL PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Mediterranean Revival two-story with two intersecting one-story winged structure
located at number 101 North Tamiami Trail was originally built as the offices of the
Burns Realty Company and subsidiary construction businesses owned by the realtor,
developer Mr. Owen Burns. Constructed of hollow clay tile and concrete block, the
facade of the structure was covered with a rough-cast stucco finish, which appears to
have been tinted a dusty salmon hue. The "U"-shaped plan consisted of a two-story
pavilion, parallel to North Tamiami Trail, and two one-story wings, which were
perpendicular to the two-story central pavilion. The gable-roofed one-story wings
flank the central courtyard with symmetrical walkways which radiate from the ‘central
figurative-tiled fountain. Access is provided at the ground floor by three doors;

the main entrance is located on axis with the entrance gate and a door is provided at
a cross—-axis on the courtyard flanks of the one-~story wings. Each of the doors is set
within a trabeated enframement executed in cast stone. The main entrance located at
the east elevation of the two-story wing is set within an enframement topped by an
architrave molding, while the subsidiary, cross-axis entrances, located at the south
and north facades of the one-story wings are set within shaped, "earred" surrounds.
Each door is constructed of darkly-stained pecky cypress vertical boards which are
decorated by massive, hammered nail heads. Each door is hung on interior steel hinge-
"Ghosts" of hinges on which exterior wood screen doors were hung remain within the
deeply recessed door enframements. In addition to the stuccoed concrete door enframe-
ments, an ornate cast stone oeil-de-bouef enframement appears above the main entrance
door of the two-story pavilion. Set within the recessed enframement molding the oculu:
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glass is decorated by an enameled-glass cross motif (probably a Bickel improvement).
In design the structure relies on the play of voids created by the deeply-recessed
door and window openings which are played against spare decorative ornamentation
which includes the oeil-de-bouef enframement, tiled recessed and an occasional
ornamental wrought iron window grille or balcony. Additional design tension is
provided by the appearance of an exterior stair, located to the south of the main
entrance and connecting the ground and second story at the southeast elevation of
the central courtyard. All gabled roof surfaces as well as the shed-roofed stair
porch are clad in terra-cotta barrel-tiling.

Early photographic documentation is provided by a series of views of the Burns
complex in the collection of Mr. Owen Burns' daughter, Miss Lillian Burns.® The
Burns Realty Company was set on a grassy berm and the site included curbing and
sidewalk improvements (in marked contrast to the patchy road surface of Banana
Avenue) .~ Banana Avenue officially became "Broadway" in March of 1925.10 The
development of Broadway was spearheaded by Owen Burns. In the early photographic
views the area to the north of the Burns Realty Company was undeveloped; pine trees
are visible at the northern horizon line.ll Electricity poles and sidewalks are
visible in front of the office building. The early photographs of the Burns Realty
Company document the early appearance of the exterior stair with wire hoops
supported by the metal stair rail which also carried small flower pot holders.

The large metal hoops presumably were the forms to support and train flowering
vines.?l The central courtyard of Burns Realty Company was protected by a
stucco-surfaced masonry wall with square masonry gate posts flanking the gate
ornamental wrought iron enclosure. A pair of sigmoid based benches formerly
flanked the gate opening. The original metal casement windows still exist--with
eight-paned lights per leaf and horizontal eight-light transoms above. Many of

the original casement windows contain tinted glass held within leaded cames--tinted
glass similar to the Venetian glass which was used at the Ca d'Zan i%he residence
of John Ringling also designed by the architect Dwight James Baum). Single
two-leaved casement windows pierce the facade of the interior courtyard, while the
exterior facades are penetrated by paired, two-leaved metal casement windows. Each
casement window was originally Rrotected by a canvas awning, a shed projection of
canvas carried on metal spears. 5 Bracketed window boxes were originally provided
beneath the casement windowed openings located at the east facades of the inter-
secting one-story wings.

USES: By 1926 the Sarasota City Directory lists the building as the office of the
Burns Realty Company as well as the Burns Supply Company. By 1927-28 office
space was occupied by E. O. Burns, Realtor, Burns Realty Company, Owen Burns Supply
Company, Burns Construction Company, Builders, and the office of the Washington
Park Estates, Inc. 7 An office was also provided for the architect Dwight James
Baum by 1927. The Burns Realty Company and Ringling venture offices closed and
the building was disposed of following the stock market crash of 1929. By June of .
1933 it was announced that the Burns Realt{gstructure office would be sold to
Karl A. Bickel, president of United Press. Imminent remodeling was announced.
Included in the Bickel remodeling was the addition of two external chimneys, one
added at the south elevation of the southernmost one-story wing--not visible in
the Burns Realty photograph, and a massive two-story external chimney, located at
the west elevation of the two-story pavilion. The chimneys provided working
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fireplaces at the entrance foyer and adjacent room and a massive open fireplace
located in the one-story southernmost wing. Widely striped canvas awnings replaced
the earlier, thinly-striped awnings. Interior changes included the creation of a
master bedroom at the second floor of the north end of the two-story elevation.
Interior embellishments included two-dimensional . cut-out banisters present at the
stair flight which connects the first and second floors of the south end of the
two-story pavilion. 1In addition to interior improvements necessitated by a conver-
sion from office to residential use, the Bickels added a library wing located at
the northwest property line. The "U"-shaped library addition is a one-story
loggiaed structure terminating in a one-story intersecting wing at the east and at
the west appears a two-story wing which is approached by a dramatic exterior stair-
way. Constructed of wire and wood lath, set on a concrete block foundation, the
library wing is stucco finished. The layout of the loggiaed hyphen is a railroad
plan. . The library addition is significant in the conscious attempt to respect the
design of the earlier structure. The 1930's addition is a compatible design solu-
tion with similar stucco color and texture, -gabled roof surfaces clad in terra-
cotta barrel tiling and beamed ceilings. The beams and lumber are of a lesser
quality than the prototype Burns Realty Company building. The windows are wood,
six-over-six double-hung sash. The extensive grounds were enclosed with masonry
walls set with broken tiles and -glass in irregular tesserae patterns. The garden
is decorated with statuary and plaques, many of which appear to have been purchased
by the Bickels in Spain. ., '

Interior: The Burns Realty Company was divided into generous office spaces. The
floor surfaces throughout are dark stained wide oak planks with a simple baseboard
with the exception of the entrance foyer or stair hall which has terra-cotta
square-tiled floors and tiled baseboards. All rooms (except the second floor stair
hall) have pecky cypress beamed and stencilled ceilings. Of particular note are
the paired kidney or beehive-shaped fireplaces located on the first floor at the
entrance foyer and room located to the north of the foyer. The interior of the
southernmost one-story wing is a living room with a monumental fireplace character-
ized by the use of a massive, rough-hewn board mantleshelf. The Bickels occupied
the building beginning January 1, 1935.

Site: Early photographs document the early ungraded road surface once present on
Banana Avenue. In 1925 Banana Avenue was officially changed to Broadway . By
circa 1935 Broadway was a Belgian Block surfaced thoroughfare.22 (Please refer to
photoggaph SCHA-BK #75.4, Roll #C: 9A, attached.) By circa 1935 an aerial photo-
graph in the collection of the Sarasota County Historical Archives provides
documentation of the development which occurred along Broadway in the mid 1920's--
development largely directed by Mr. Owen Burns who owned the property on which

the El Vernona Hotel (MRNS #33), El Vernona Apartment (MRNS #38) as well as the
block occupied by the L. D. Reagin, F. de Canizares, and Sarasota Times  Building

(MRNS #20, 21, 33) were erected. Today the property is negatively impacted by
the multi-laned North Tamiami Trail.

Alterations: In addition to the changes directed by Mr. & Mrs. Karl Bickel in the
conversion of an office to a residence, several subsequent alterations have
occurred. The Sarasota Symphony Women's Association opened the property as a
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"designers' showcase house"--several of the original interior finishes were
obliterated during the decorating siege.

The Burns Realty Company/Bickel Residence was overgrown by vines, which evidently

destroyed a high percentage of the original terra-cotta barrel tiled roof surfaces.
The roof tiles were removed and the roof surface has been made weathertight by the
current owners, The Gardinier Resorts Corporation. It is hoped that a barrel-tiled
roof surface will be replaced. The current roof is a composition surface.
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SUMMARY OF STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The "U"-shaped stucco and cast stone Mediterranean Revival with Spanish Renaissance
overtones structure located at 101 North Tamiami Trail was built as an office for
the realty and construction-related businesses of Owen Burns. The-building was \
designed by nationally prominent architect Dwight James Baum. 24 Contemporary press
coverage indicated that the office would reflect the Spanish Renaissance style of
architecture which would be used as a thematic style for further development along
. Broadway, including the El Vernona Hotel, ‘El1 Vernona Apartments and the Sarasota
Times building.2 The site of the Burns complex which was located at Broadway and
Seventh (currently 101 North Tamiami Trail, corner of First Street) was situated in
the heart of the Broadway development which was largely spearheaded by Mr. Owen Burns
with buildings designed b% Dwight James Baum. Mr. Baum also maintained an office at
101 North Tamiami Trail.2 Mr. Baum was a nationally known and published architect
whose study of the Spanish Colonial Revival and Mission Style of architecture in
California is reflected in his subsequent Sarasota designs.27 Mr. Baum was particu-
larly fascinated with the use of materials in eclectic California architecture,
buildingg executed " . . . in pinkish stucco . . . black ironwork and red tile
roofs," -~-materials which reappear in the design executed at 101 North Tamiami
Trail. The structure continued to be used as an office space until the collapse of
the land boom and national Depression. In 1933 the building was purchased by the
president of United Press, Mr. Karl Bickel. 22 By 1935 Mr. Bickel had executed a
successful adaptive re-use by converting the commercial structure to residential
use.
In addition to undertaking a sensitive re-use of the 1920's structure, Mr. Bickel
added a library wing at the northwest parameter of the property. The 1930's library
wing is a remarkably sensitive design which is "U"-shaped and reflects the design of
the earlier structure in texture, color, massing and scale. Both the Burns period
and the adaptive re-use undertaken by Karl Bickel in the 1930's are significant.

E

TEXT SUPPORTING SUMMARY OF STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The "U"-shaped Mediterranean Revival Style structure located at 101 North Tamiami
Trail was built as an office for the realty and construction-related businesses

of Owen Burns and was designed by nationally prominent architect Dwight James Baum.
A 1924 Sarasota Times article outlined plans for a larger development for the site
with a building which would provide retail space for nine or ten stores and twenty

apartments. The press announcement authorized by Owen Burns predicted that the
office space would be occupied by "The John Ringling Properties, St. Armand's
division . . . holdings on Longboat, St. Armand's, Coon and Bird Keys."32 The

" apartments were to be occupied by employees of the company. By October of 1925
the development of Broadway was underway and buildings executed in the area by
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architect Dwight James Baum were to be in the "Spanish Renaissance architecture"
mode--proposed structures included the El Vernona Apartments (MRNS #38) and the
plant and offices of The Sarasota Times. 33 The article stated that, "The office
building of Mr. Baum and Owen Burns is of this type [Spanish Renaissance] and the
El Vernona Hotel will be of the same character when completed."34

Mr. Owen Burns was a significant force in the development of Sarasota having secured
the holdings of J. Hamilton Gillespie which by 1937 represented approximately
seventy-five percent of the limits of Sarasota. In partnership with Mr. G. M.
McAlpin the Burns & McAlpin Com%any was engaged in curbing and sidewalk paving as
well as building construction. 3 Mr. Burns executed one of the largest land-fill
operations in the State of Florida with a land-fill project which extended from

his residence on North Gulf Stream Avenue to Sunset Park and Golden Gate Point. 37
Most of the development along Broadway was spearheaded by Mr. Burns and many of the
structures were designed by architect Dwight James Baum, including the El Vernona
Hotel (MRNS #33, 111 North Tamiami Trail’) ahd the El Vernona Apartments (MRNS #38,
1133 Fourth Street). It was fitting that the offices of Mr. Burns were constructed
on the west side of Broadway surrounded by proposed development projects and
adjacent to the El Vernona Hotel site. (For additional information concerning

Mr. Owen Burns, please refer to MRNS #2, Burns Court Historic District.)

Architect Dwight James Baum was born in Little Falls, New York in 1886 and graduated
from Syracuse University in Architecture in 1909.38 Between 1909 and 1914 Baum
served as a draftsman and apprentice architect in various New York City firms,
including the firm of Boring and Tilton whose work included the Immigration Station
at Ellis Island. 32 By 1914 Mr. Baum had started an architectural practice and was
awarded commissions for Syracuse University including the Hendricks Memorial Chapel
with John Russell Pope. 40 Baum was a remarkably eclectic designer whose revival
sources included, "Colonial Types, Formal Georgian Types, Italian Types, English
Types, Dutch Colonial Types and Miscellaneous." [Curiously, Baum's Florida work
was not included in the 1927 monotgraph.] In addition to his architectural prac-
tice, Baum published articles in several national architectural magazines. BRaum
had traveled extensively in Southern California and his study of Mission and
Spanish Colonial Revival architecture including the "Mission Inn" in Riverside,
California, culminated in several articles, one entitled, "An Eastern Architect's
Impressions of Recent Work in Southern California; Beautiful and Novel Efforts in
New Materials--Original Uses of Tiles, Stucco, Woodwork and Ornamental Grilles."
The study of Mediterranean Revival, Spanish Colonial Revival and Mission architec-
ture in California influenced Mr. Baum's designs which were executed in Florida,
which drew from the eclectic styles he had studied in California. Mr. Baum was
particularly fascinated with the use of materials in California, in particular the
heavy stucco walls, hand-hewn, distressed and grained wood doors, wrought iron

railings, balconies and window grilles--buildings_executed " . . . in pinkish
stucco . . . black ironwork and red tile roofs." Particularly applicable is
Mr. Baum's summary of California designs which relied on " . . . broad simple wall

surfaces with ornate entrances, after Spanish precedent,"44 a statement which aptly
, describes the facade of number 101 North Tamiami Trail. '
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Baum first arrived in Sarasota4gs the architect who had been selected to design the

"house of Mrs. John Ringling." By 1927 Mr. Baum is listed in the Sarasota City
Directory with an office in the Burns office complex at Broadway and Seventh
(101 North Tamiami Trail). Baum maintained an office in the Riverdale section

of the Bronx. In addition to his Broadway commissions, Mr. Baum designed residences
for the Washington Park area,47 as well as the Sarasota County Courthouse (MRNS #10,
2000 Main Street). Following the collapse of the building boom and Depression,

Mr. Baum served as architectural consultant for Good Housekeeping magazine and was
awarded the Bronze Medal award of the Architectural League of New York in 1930.4

Mr. Baum died in December of 1939.

In design the Burns Realty Company, with its subtle massing, restrained cast stone
ornamentation, wrought iron grilles, balcony railings, exterior stair, barrel-tiled
roof surfaces and rustic pecky cypress beams and doors, reflects a synthesis of
lessons learned in California. Mr. Baum did not "crib," but rather assimilated the
California vocabulary and produced his own interpretation of the Mediterranean
Revival Style with Spanish Colonial Revival overtones.

Number 101 N. Tamiami Trail is significant as an early example of adaptive re-use
with conversion from office to residence which was executg% under the direction

of the owner, Mr. Karl Bickel, president of United Press. Having purchased the
property in 1933 51 the Bickel family octupiéd the structure as a residence in
January of 1935.52 Interior alterations included the addition of pantry, kitchen,
master bedrooms and dressing rooms. Two exterior chimneys were added to the office
structure by the Bickels. Respect was paid to the original structure in the
conversion from commercial to residential use. Of particular note is the library
wing which was added to the property at the northwest property line. The library
wing is also "U"-shaped in plan and is constructed in compatible materials--stucco
facade, barrel-tiled gabled roof surfaces, an exterior stairway, and beamed
ceilings--a design of remarkable sensitivity in texture, scale, materials and
massing for a mid-1930's structure which reflects the design of the 1925's building.
Wonderfully romantic and esoteric walled gardens were provided at the western
parameter of the property. Multi-colored broken bits of tile and glass are set in
elaborate Gaudiesque patterns. Karl and Madira Bickel contributed to the community
of Sarasota and at Mrs. Bickel's death in 19723 the extensive Bickel art collection
was bequeathed to the Ringling Museum of Art.

Preservation Threat: The Burns Realty Company/Karl Bickel. Residence and adjoining
property, 111 North Tamiami Trail, the El Vernona Hotel (MRNS #33) are owned by
the Gardinier Resort Properties. The two properties were part of a proposed
larger development package which failed to receive permission for an extra density
allowance. On March 10, 1983 the Gardinier Corporation applied for and received

a demolition permit for the El Vernona Hotel site.
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